Financial statements

for the year ended 31 December 2021



2021

Prepared in accordance with international financial reporting standards (as adopted by the EU)



for the year ended 31 December 2021

2021



We're increasing connectivity

revenues from telco 603 ^{Mil.} czk

 \mathbb{Q}^{n}

CONTENTS

State	ement of total comprehensive income	7
State	ement of financial position	8
State	ement of changes in equity	9
State	ement of cash flows	10
Note	es to financial statements	12
1.	General information	12
2.	Basis of preparation	12
3.	COVID-19 and War in Ukraine	13
4.	Significant accounting policies	14
	Business Combinations	14
	Foreign currencies	14
	Research and development	14
	Government grants	15
5.	Revenue	15
6.	Expenses	18
7.	Finance income and Finance expense	19
8.	Income taxes	19
9.	Property, plant and equipment	20
10.	Intangible assets	22
11.	Leases	26
12.	Trade and other receivables	28
13.	Inventories	29
14.	Trade and other payables	29
15.	Provisions	30
16.	Contingent liabilities, litigations and commitments	30
17.	Loans and borrowings	31
18.	Financial instruments and risk management	32
	Market risk	32
	Liquidity risk	34
	Credit risk	34
	Fair values	35
19.	Investments in Associates / Assets held for sale	35
20.	Cash and cash equivalents	37
21.	Equity	37
22.	Related party transactions	38
23.	Subsequent events	39
Inde	pendent auditor's report to the shareholders	40

We're speeding up the connection

CAPEX

245 Mil. czk

STATEMENT OF TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

In CZK thousand	Note	2021	2020
Revenue	5	610,431	599,009
Expenses	6	(357,663)	(335,317)
Gross profit		252,768	263,692
Depreciation and amortisation	9, 10, 11	(147,970)	(126,539)
Operating profit		104,798	137,153
Finance income	7	1,488	
Finance expense	7	(14,730)	(13,460)
Share on profit of equity accounted investee	19	615	571
Profit before tax		92,171	124,264
Income tax	8	(13,402)	(28,976)
Profit for the year		78,769	95,288
Other comprehensive income		•	-
Total comprehensive income, net of tax		78,769	95,288
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA)*		253,788	261,909

* EBITDA is defined as the Company's profit or loss before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

In CZK thousand	Note	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
ASSETS			
Property, plant and equipment	9	1,025,112	883,645
Intangible assets	10	168,912	183,458
Goodwill	10	183,769	183,104
Right of use assets	11	157,034	163,347
Contract assets	5	14,058	9,094
Equity accounted investee	19	-	6,615
Non-current assets		1,548,885	1,429,263
Inventories	13	97,353	55,040
Trade and other receivables	12	18,309	20,182
Contract assets	5	24,880	17,505
Income tax receivable	8	7,345	2,345
Cash and cash equivalents	20	86,730	53,840
Assets held for sale	19	5,900	-
Current assets		240,517	148,912
TOTAL ASSETS		1,789,402	1,578,175
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES			
Share capital	21	55,000	55,000
Retained earnings, funds and reserves	21	885,952	807,183
Total equity		940,952	862,183
Loans and borrowings	17	395,051	309,027
Deferred tax liability	8	80,342	76,773
Provisions	15	1,799	1,764
Lease liabilities	11	126,542	133,132
Trade and other payables	14	4,900	5,901
Non-current liabilities		608,634	526,597
Loans and borrowings	17	104,377	53,948
Lease liabilities	11	33,395	32,920
Trade and other payables	14	94,044	92,527
Other liabilities	14	8,000	10,000
Current liabilities		239,816	189,395
Total liabilities		848,450	715,992
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES		1,789,402	1,578,175

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2020

In CZK thousand	Share Capital	Retained earnings	Total
As at 31 December 2019	55,000	711,895	766,895
Profit for the year		95,288	95,288
Other comprehensive income		-	-
Total comprehensive income		95,288	95,288
As at 31 December 2020	55,000	807,183	862,183

For the year ended 31 December 2021

In CZK thousand	Share Capital	Retained earnings	Total
As at 31 December 2020	55,000	807,183	862,183
Profit for the year	55,000	78,769	78,769
Other comprehensive income		-	
Total comprehensive income		78,769	78,769
As at 31 December 2021	55,000	885,952	940,952



STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

In CZK thousand	Note	2021	2020
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	20	53,840	12,622
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES			
Profit or loss before taxation		92,171	124,264
Non-cash adjustments:			
Depreciation and amortisation		147,970	126,539
Change in provisions and allowances		2,278	(230)
Profit or loss from disposal of fixed assets		5,302	1,779
Net finance expense		13,497	11,105
Other non-cash adjustments		(202)	424
Changes in working capital:			
Decrease (increase) in receivables		(11,324)	(10,540)
Decrease (increase) in payables		803	4,560
Decrease (increase) in inventory		(43,733)	(3,941)
Cash generated from operations		206,762	253,960
Paid income tax		(15,035)	(16,832)
Interest received		150	1
Net cash flow from operating activities		191,877	237,129
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES			
Acquisition of fixed assets		(245,771)	(211,227)
Proceeds from sales of fixed assets		1,278	1,438
Net cash flow from investing activities		(244,493)	(209,789)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES			
Grant of borrowings		192,415	143,516
Repayment of borrowings		(55,963)	(78,290)
Payment of lease liabilities		(35,581)	(35,498)
Interest paid		(13,365)	(10,828)
Dividends paid		(2,000)	(5,000)
Net cash flow from financing activities		85,506	13,900
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents		32,890	41,240
Effect of exchange rate changes		-	(22)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	20	86,730	53,840

We're increasing network throughput

3

households connected to optical fibre **81,893**

0

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

PODA a.s. provides B2C customers, businesses and other telecommunication operators with a wide range of services including broadband internet connection, fixed telephony and mobile telecommunications, data transmission and other value-added services.

PODA a.s. has the form of a joint stock company ("a.s.") and is incorporated and domiciled in the Czech Republic. The address of its registered office is 28. října 1168/102, Moravská Ostrava, 702 00 Ostrava, Czech Republic.

The ownership structure as at 31 December 2021 was as follows:

Shareholder	% interest on Equity
Karakay Invest N.V	83.90 %
Circadian s.r.o.	16.10 %
Total	100 %

PODA a.s. is not listed at any stock exchange.

The Board of Directors of PODA a.s. are stated below.

	Function	Name
Chairman of the board	Chief executive officer	Martin Šigut
Directors	Chief executive officer	Martin Šigut
	Non-executive director	Petr Štěpánek
	Chief finance officer	Pavel Přeček

These financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 21 October 2022.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU. IFRS comprise standards and interpretations approved by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC).

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of the financial statements are summarized in note 3 below. Other significant accounting policies applicable to a particular area are disclosed in the most relevant note. The policies have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated.

These financial statements comprise PODA a.s., and its associate (together the "Company", "us", "we" or "our"). The Company does not prepare consolidated financial statements as it does not control any subsidiary. Further, these financial statements do not represent separate financial statements as per IAS 27.

The financial statements were prepared on a going concern basis, as described below, under the historical cost convention except for certain assets and liabilities acquired during business combinations which are measured at fair value as disclosed in the accounting policies below. The financial statements and the accompanying notes are presented in thousand Czech crowns (TCZK), the functional currency of the Company, unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements were prepared and approved on the assumption that the Company remains as going concern. Our key management prepared forecasts and projections for the Company, which indicate that cash on hand, together with cash from operations and credit facilities, are expected to be sufficient for our cash requirements through at least 12 months from the approval of these financial statements. These forecasts indicate that, taking into account reasonably possible downsides and the potential impact of COVID-19 and Russia's invasion on Ukraine on our operations and financial resources, we will have sufficient funds to meet our liabilities as they come due.

In preparing these financial statements in conformity with IFRS, management has made judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of the Company's accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.

Estimates, assumptions and judgements

In connection with the preparation of the financial statements, the Company makes forward-looking estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenue and expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. The resulting accounting estimates might be, by definition, different from the related actual results. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions to estimates are recognised prospectively. The estimates and assumptions that might have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next years are mentioned below:

- Useful life of property, plant and equipment (discussed in note 9)
- Impairment of goodwill (discussed in note 10)
- Lease term (discussed in note 11)

3. COVID-19 AND WAR IN UKRAINE

COVID-19

We considered the impact of COVID-19 on the financial statements. This global pandemic has not affected the telecommunications industry as much as other sectors. Despite many of the Company's business areas were affected, the pandemic has had limited impact on revenues and profitability.

At present, we do not observe any significant change in terms of customer solvency and as such no significant allowance is recorded.

In accordance with the requirements of the IAS 36 standard, the Company assessed indicators of possible impairment of assets. The Company has not identified any significant impairment of assets or goodwill and in connection with the COVID-19 pandemic, it did not receive any significant subsidies or other contributions.

War in Ukraine

On February 2022 Russia began its invasion of Ukraine, resulting in geopolitical uncertainty and volatility. The Company does not have any business operations or interests in Ukraine, Russia and Belarus and as such is not directly impacted by this ongoing crisis.

Other impacts resulting from this rapidly evolving situation are currently unknown and could potentially subject our business to materially adverse consequences should the situation escalate beyond its current scope.



4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Adoption of new or revised IFRS standards and interpretations

The Company considered the new amendments to IFRS 16 - Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 and Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16). The impact of these amendments was not material for the Company. The Company did not receive any rent concessions with respect to its rental agreements.

New IFRS not effective as at 31 December 2021

At the date of preparation of the accompanying financial statements, the following IFRS had been published, but their application was not mandatory. The Company intends to adopt those standards when they become effective.

- Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current (Amendments to IAS 1)
- Reference to the Conceptual Framework (Amendments to IFRS 3)
- IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
- Property, Plant and Equipment Proceeds before Intended Use (Amendments to IAS 16)
- Onerous Contracts Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to IAS 37)
- Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018–2020
- Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2)
- Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8)
- Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments to IAS 12)

Business Combinations

A business combination is accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business combination is the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred, and the equity interests issued by the Company. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition related costs are expensed when incurred. The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the Company's share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. The excess of the fair value of the Company's share of the identifiable net assets acquired over the considerations transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest of the fair value of the company's share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. The excess of the fair value of the Company's share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill and non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree is recorded as gain in profit or loss on the acquisition date.

Foreign currencies

(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates ("the functional currency"). The Functional currency of the Company is the Czech crown (CZK). The financial statements are presented in Czech crowns (CZK), which is the Company's presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transaction. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss. Such balances of monetary items are translated at yearend exchange rates. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

Research and development

Research expenditure is recognised in the income statement in the period in which it is incurred. Development expenditure, including the cost of internally developed software, is recognised in the income statement in the period in which it is incurred unless it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the group from the asset being developed, the cost of the asset can be reliably measured and technical feasibility can be demonstrated, in which case it is capitalised as an intangible asset on the balance sheet. Capitalisation ceases when the asset being developed is ready for use. Research and development costs include direct and indirect labour, materials and directly attributable overheads.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the conditions associated with the grants have been complied with and the grants will be received. Grants for the purchase or production of property, plant and equipment are deducted from the cost of the related assets and reduce future depreciation expense accordingly. Grants for the reimbursement of operating expenditure are deducted from the related category of costs in the income statement.

5. REVENUE

Significant accounting policies that apply to revenue

Revenue from contracts with customers (IFRS 15)

Most revenue recognised by the Company is in scope of IFRS 15 and is subject to the following revenue recognition policy. On inception of the contract, we identify a "performance obligation" for each of the distinct goods or services we have promised to provide to the customer. The consideration specified in the contract with the customer is allocated to each performance obligation identified based on their relative standalone selling prices and is recognised as revenue as they are satisfied. The text below summarises the performance obligations we have identified for our major service lines and provides information on the timing of when they are satisfied and the related revenue recognition policy.

a) Fixed operation

Performance obligations: Provision of broadband, TV and fixed telephony services (VoIP). Performance obligations exist for each ongoing service provided to the customer and are satisfied over the period that the services are provided. Installation services are considered distinct performance obligations and are satisfied when the customer benefits from the service.

Revenue recognition policy: Fixed subscription charges are recognised as revenue on a straight-line basis over the period that the services are provided. Variable charges such as call charges are recognised when the related services are delivered.

b) Mobile operation

Performance obligations: Provision of mobile post-paid services, including voice minutes, SMS, and data services. Performance obligations exist for each ongoing service provided to the customer and are satisfied over the period that the services are provided.

Revenue recognition policy: Subscription fees, consisting primarily of monthly charges for access to broadband and other internet access or voice and data services, are recognised as the service is provided. One-off services such as calls outside of plan and excess data usage are recognised when the service is used.

c) Equipment sales

Performance obligations: Provision of customer premises equipment (set-top boxes, routers etc.). Performance obligations are satisfied at the point in time that control passes to the customer.

Revenue recognition policy: Revenue is recognised at the point in time when control passes to the customer.

We recognise revenue based on the relative standalone selling price of each performance obligation. Determining the standalone selling price may be derived from regulated prices, list prices, a cost-plus derived price, or the price of similar products when sold on a standalone basis by the Company or a competitor. In some cases, it may be appropriate to use the contract price when this represents a bespoke price that would be the same for a similar customer in a similar circumstance.

We do not have any material obligations in respect of returns, refunds or warranties.

The contracts with customers do not have any significant financing component as they are due in a given month.

Disaggregation of revenue from customers

All revenue is generated in the Czech Republic. The following table breaks down revenue by our major service lines.

Year ended	2021	2020
Fixed operation revenue:		
- Internet and TV*	586,555	573,727
- Voice services	9,255	10,371
Mobile revenue	3,456	3,665
Equipment revenue	3,185	4,600
Lease revenue*	3,268	3,245
Other revenue	3,796	3,401
Total	609,515	599,009

* The amount of 3,245 TCZK in line "Lease revenue" was incorrectly presented in the "Internet and TV revenue" line item in previously issued financial statements.

Other revenue consists mainly of insurance claims and contractual penalties. It also includes net gain of 492 TCZK from sales of fixed assets (2020: net loss of 1,779 TCZK presented in "Expenses" caption).

In 2021 the Company acquired a business which resulted in gain from bargain purchase of 916 TCZK. Among the reasons why the transaction resulted in bargain purchase was favourable selling cost and nature of acquired assets which were measured at fair value. The gain is presented in "Revenue" line item in the statement of comprehensive income and in "Other non-cash adjustments" in the statement of cash flows.

Revenue expected to be recognised in future periods for performance obligations that are not complete (or are partially complete) as at 31 December 2021 amounts to 159,503 TCZK. These expected revenues mainly contain revenues from contracts with complex delivery of services. These revenues are recognised based on the fulfilment of performance obligations and not according to invoicing of customers.

We have elected to apply certain available practical expedients when disclosing unfulfilled performance obligations, including the option to exclude expected revenues from unsatisfied obligations of contracts with an original expected duration of one year or less.

In 2021 and 2020, the Company did not recognise any revenues relating to performance obligations that were satisfied, or partially satisfied, in previous years.

Revenue from lease arrangements in scope of IFRS 16

The Company acts as a lessor in several arrangements which meet the definition of operating lease under IFRS 16. These include lease of dark fibre optical network, access point equipment and server housing. Arrangements meeting the definition of a lease in which we act as lessor are classified as operating or finance leases at lease inception based on an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case then the lease is a finance lease; if not, it is an operating lease. For sub-leases, we make this assessment by reference to the characteristics of the right-of-use asset associated with the head lease rather than the underlying leased asset.

Income from arrangements classified as operating leases is presented as revenue since it relates to our core operating activities. We recognise operating lease payments as income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

In certain cases, the Company leases customer premises equipment (CPE) to its customers for no consideration. Such equipment is a prerequisite for the Company to fulfil its performance obligations in the provision of customer services. The customers do not possess the right to direct the use of the equipment, nor can they benefit from the equipment on its own. As such the Company has determined that these leases do not fall into scope of IFRS 16 and do not represent a separate performance obligation.

Significant accounting policies that apply to Contract assets

Incremental contract costs:

Costs incurred that are incremental to obtaining a contract with a customer, and are expected to be recovered, are recognised as contract assets, and amortised in a way that is consistent with the recognition of the related revenue. Such costs are not capitalized provided the contract term is less than 12 months. A portfolio approach is used to determine contract term. These costs include mainly certain commissions or bonuses to employees directly related to the contracts obtained on behalf of the Company.

Other contract assets:

We recognise other contract assets when we have a right to consideration for exchange of goods or services that we have already transferred to customers and which we have not yet invoiced. Such contract assets are amortised over the contract term.

Contract assets are recognised as follows:

	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Incremental contract costs		
Non-current	8,150	2,848
Current	8,750	6,881
Other contract assets		
Non-current	16,730	6,246
Current	5,308	10,624
Total contract assets	38,938	26,599

The table below analyses movement of contract assets:

	Incremental	Other	
	contract costs	contract assets	Total
31 December 2019	7,525	4,253	11,778
Additions	9,595	21,183	30,778
Amortisation	(7,391)	(8,566)	(15,957)
31 December 2020	9,729	16,870	26,599
Additions	13,226	22,389	35,615
Amortisation	(6,055)	(17,221)	(23,276)
31 December 2021	16,900	22,038	38,938

The Company regularly evaluates capitalised incremental costs to obtain contracts and assesses whether there is any indication of impairment. The assessment is based on the monitoring of expectation of the remaining amount of consideration that we expect to receive in exchange for the related services provided less costs that relate directly to providing these services that have not been recognised as expenses.

Based on an assessment of these parameters, there was no impairment of the capitalised costs to obtain contracts as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

We provide for expected lifetime losses on other contract assets. The amount recognized in 2021 was 1,005 TCZK (2020: 769 TCZK).

6. EXPENSES

The table below summarizes the main types of expenses by their nature.

Year ended	2021	2020
Expenses by nature		
Services:		
client service costs	34,196	37,653
connectivity costs	41,016	36,914
IPTV costs	40,070	35,977
network and operating costs*	33,901	32,640
marketing and sales	13,897	15,451
mobile costs	4,051	5,940
other services	5,085	5,480
Total Services	172,217	170,055
Staff costs:		
wages and salaries	80,731	69,622
social security costs	26,726	22,871
other pension costs	6,444	5,971
Total Staff costs:	113,901	98,465
Material consumption and utilities	42,636	49,930
Cost of goods sold	3,790	3,859
Inventory and receivables write - down	2,278	2,550
Taxes and fees*	1,321	1,180
Other operating expenses	21,520	9,279
Total expenses	357,663	335,317

* The amount of 6,400 TCZK was reclassified from "Taxes and fees" line item to "network and operating costs" position and represents LTE frequency licence fees.

Other operating expenses are mainly connected with disposals of assets, insurance costs and liquidation of telecommunication equipment.

Key management personnel did not receive any post-employment, termination, or share – based payment benefits. The Company does not participate in any defined benefit plans or defined contribution plans.

number of clients with TV services **64,735**

7. FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE EXPENSE

Year ended	2021	2020
Finance expense		
Interest on:		
Loans from related parties	361	364
Bank loans	9,136	6,373
Lease liabilities	3,868	4,091
Unwind of discount	282	277
FX losses (net)	-	946
Bank fees and other finance expense	1,083	1,409
Total	14,730	13,460

The Company recognises foreign exchange gains and losses on net basis.

8. INCOME TAXES

Significant accounting policies that apply to taxation

We are required to estimate the amount of tax payable or refundable for the current year and the deferred tax assets and liabilities for the future tax consequences.

Current income tax is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries where the Company generates taxable income.

Deferred income taxation is calculated using the liability method applied to all temporary differences arising between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their carrying values for financial reporting purposes. Currently enacted tax rates and laws expected to apply when the asset is realised, or the liability is settled, are used to determine the deferred income tax. Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

For transactions and other events recognised in profit or loss, any related tax effects are also recognised in profit or loss. For transactions and other events recognised directly in equity, any related tax effects are also recognised directly in equity.

Below is an analysis of our tax expense for the year:

Year ended	2021	2020
Income tax expense		
Current income tax	10,040	16,613
Adjustments related to previous years	-	1
Deferred income tax	3,362	12,362
Total	13,402	28,976

We recognized corporate income tax asset of 7,345 TCZK as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: 2,345 TCZK). Corporate income tax advances are netted with the calculated corporate income tax liability.

Reconciliation of the effective tax rate

Income taxes of 13,402 TCZK in the reporting year (2020: 28,976 TCZK) are derived as follows from the expected income tax expense / benefit that would have arisen had the statutory income tax rate been applied to profit / loss before income taxes:

Year ended	2021	2020
Effective tax rate		
Profit before tax	92,171	124,264
Expected income tax expense (applicable tax rate 19 %)	17,512	23,610
Adjustments to expected tax expense		
Tax non-deductible expenses	2,114	1,599
Non-taxable income	320	(29)
Goodwill amortisation of COMA and IPK ¹⁾	3,562	3,532
Other tax effects	(10,105)	264
Income tax expense	13,402	28,976
Effective tax rate in %	15 %	23 %

 Goodwill is amortised under Czech GAAP and treated as tax non-deductible expense. We do not calculate deferred tax as Goodwill is not amortised and only tested for impairment under IFRS – effectively making it a permanent difference.

Deferred tax

We used 19 % tax rate applicable for the Czech Republic to arrive at the figures of deferred tax. There were no items of deferred tax that were charged or credited to equity in 2021 or 2020.

	31 December 2021	
Temporary differences arising from:		
Fixed assets	79,143	76,797
Inventories	(953)	(683)
Trade receivables	(416)	(325)
Contract assets	3,211	1,702
Other	(644)	(718)
Total	80,342	76,773

The majority of the deferred tax assets and liabilities noted above are anticipated to be realised after more than 12 months.

9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Significant accounting policies that apply to property, plant and equipment

Our property, plant and equipment is included at historical cost, net of accumulated depreciation and any impairment charges. Property, plant and equipment acquired through business combinations are initially recorded at their acquisition costs (which are equal to their fair value at the effective date of the business combination) and subsequently accounted for on the same basis as our existing assets. Included within the cost of network infrastructure and equipment are direct and indirect labour costs, materials and directly attributable overheads. The costs also include the estimated costs of dismantling and removing the asset and restoring the site. We derecognise items of property, plant and equipment on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. The difference between the sale proceeds and the net book value at the date of disposal is recognised in other operating expenses in the income statement.

We depreciate property, plant and equipment on a straight-line basis from the time the asset is available for use, to write off the asset's cost over the estimated useful life taking into account any expected residual value. The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. If necessary, changes are recognised prospectively. Freehold land is not depreciated as it is deemed to have an indefinite life.

Estimated useful economic lives

The estimated useful lives assigned to principal categories of assets are as follows:

PPE class	years
Buildings and optical fibre network	15–20
Data network	5–10
Machinery and other fixed assets	3–8
Motor vehicles	5
Customer-premises equipment (CPE)	5–6

Critical accounting estimates and key judgements made in estimating useful economic lives

Depreciation and amortisation expenses are based on management's estimates of residual value, depreciation and amortisation method and the useful life of property, plant and equipment. Estimates may change due to technological developments, competition, changes in market conditions and other factors and may result in changes in the estimated useful life and in the depreciation charges. Technological developments are difficult to predict and the Company's views on the trends and pace of development may change over time. Critical estimates in the evaluations of useful lives include, but are not limited to, expected developments in technology and markets. The useful lives are reviewed at least annually taking into consideration the factors mentioned above and all other important relevant factors.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

We test property, plant and equipment for impairment if events or changes in circumstances (assessed at each reporting date) indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. When an impairment test is performed, we assess the recoverable amount by reference to the higher of the net present value of the expected future cash flows (value in use) of the relevant asset and the fair value less costs to dispose. If it is not possible to determine the recoverable amount for the individual asset, then we assess impairment by reference to the relevant cash generating unit as described in note 10.

We guarantee professional growth

number of employees 255

21

	Land and		Optical	Other	Assets	
	buildings	Data	fibre	fixed	under	_
	& CPE	network	network	assets	construction	Total
Cost						
As at 31 December 2019	40,449	255,101	511,190	15,689	782	823,211
Additions	29,070	49,221	112,252	6,387	368	197,298
Disposals	(527)	(2,004)	-	(451)	(68)	(3,050)
Transfers	-	46	227	52	(325)	
As at 31 December 2020	68,992	302,364	623,669	21,678	757	1,017,460
Additions	36,883	68,775	120,362	5,053	612	231,685
Disposals	(1,723)	(10,705)	(694)	(872)	-	(13,994)
Transfers	-	-	757	-	(757)	-
As at 31 December 2021	104,152	360,434	744,094	25,859	612	1,235,151
Accumulated depreciation						
As at 31 December 2019	(8,402)	(33,749)	(22,236)	(3,035)	-	(67,421)
Depreciation for the year	(10,678)	(29,779)	(22,483)	(3,454)	-	(66,393)
As at 31 December 2020	(19,080)	(63,527)	(44,719)	(6,489)	-	(133,815)
Depreciation for the year	(17,335)	(34,891)	(26,623)	(4,706)	-	(83,555)
Disposals and adjustments	641	6,240	178	272	-	7,331
As at 31 December 2021	(35,774)	(92,178)	(71,164)	(10,923)		(210,039)
Carrying amount						
As at 31 December 2019	32,048	221,352	488,954	12,654	782	755,790
As at 31 December 2020	49,913	238,836	578,950	15,189	757	883,645
As at 31 December 2021	68,379	268,255	672,930	14,936	612	1,025,112

There was no impairment recognised concerning property, plant and equipment in 2021 and 2020.

Our optical network is used as a pledge in our bank loans arrangements (see note 17). The total of these pledged assets as at 31 December amounted to 431,681 TCZK (31 December 2020: 460,056 TCZK; 31 December 2019: 485,432 TCZK).

10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Significant accounting policies that apply to intangible assets

We recognise identifiable intangible assets where we control the asset, it is probable that future economic benefits attributable to the asset will flow to the Company, and we can reliably measure the cost of the asset. We amortise all intangible assets, other than goodwill, over their useful economic life. The method of amortisation reflects the pattern in which the assets are expected to be consumed. If the pattern cannot be determined reliably, the straight-line method is used.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Company's share on the identifiable net assets (including intangible assets) of the acquired business. Our goodwill impairment policy is set out later in this note.

Acquired intangible assets - customer lists

Intangible assets such as customer lists or similar databases acquired through business combinations are recorded at their acquisition costs (which equal their fair value as at the date of acquisition) and subsequently amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

Telecommunications licences

Licence fees paid to governments, which permit telecommunications activities to be operated for defined periods, are initially recorded at cost and amortised from the time the network is available for use to the end of the licence period or where our usage can extend beyond the initial licence period, over the period we expect to benefit from the use of the licences, which is typically 15 years. Licences acquired through business combinations are recorded at their acquisition costs (which equal their fair value as at the date of acquisition) and subsequently amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

Computer software

Computer software comprises computer software licences purchased from third parties, and also the cost of internally developed software. Computer software licences purchased from third parties are initially recorded at cost. We only capitalise costs directly associated with the production of internally developed software, including direct and indirect labour costs of development, where it is probable that the software will generate future economic benefits, the cost of the asset can be reliably measured and technical feasibility can be demonstrated, in which case it is capitalised as an intangible asset on the balance sheet. Costs which do not meet these criteria and research costs are expensed as incurred. Our development costs which give rise to internally developed software include upgrading the network architecture or functionality and developing service platforms aimed at offering new services to our customers.

Estimated useful economic lives

The estimated useful economic lives assigned to the principal categories of intangible assets are as follows:

Intangible asset class	years
Software	3–4
IPTV license	1
Customer lists	6
Frequency band use license	15

Impairment of intangible assets

Intangible assets are tested for impairment if events or changes in circumstances (assessed at each reporting date) indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. When an impairment test is performed, the recoverable amount is assessed by reference to the higher of the net present value of the expected future cash flows (value in use) of the relevant cash generating unit and the fair value less costs to dispose.

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment at least annually as described further below. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement, as a specific item. If a cash generating unit is impaired, impairment losses are allocated firstly against goodwill, and secondly on a pro-rata basis against intangible and other assets.

connected B2C customers 111,995

		Valuable		Customer		
	Goodwill	rights	Licences	list	Software*	Total
Cost						
As at 31 December 2019	183,104	555	201,523	4,502	4,316	394,001
Additions	-	-	7,244	-	5,643	12,887
Disposals	-	-	-	-	-	-
Transfers	-	-	-	-	-	-
As at 31 December 2020	183,104	555	208,767	4,502	9,959	406,888
Additions	665	-	4,518	2,287	6,681	14,151
Disposals	-	-	-	-	-	
Transfers	-	-	-	-	-	-
As at 31 December 2021	183,769	555	213,285	6,789	16,640	421,039
Accumulated amortisation						
As at 31 December 2019	-	(185)	(16,187)	(438)	(53)	(16,863)
Amortisation for the year	-	(185)	(22,474)	(750)	(53)	(23,463)
As at 31 December 2020	-	(370)	(38,661)	(1,188)	(106)	(40,326)
Amortisation for the year	-	(185)	(26,789)	(1,020)	(38)	(28,032)
As at 31 December 2021		(555)	(65,450)	(2,208)	(144)	(68,358)
Carrying amount						
As at 31 December 2019	183,104	370	185,336	4,065	4,263	377,138
As at 31 December 2020	183,104	185	170,105	3,314	9,853	366,562
As at 31 December 2021	183,769	-	147,835	4,581	16,496	352,681

* Includes a carrying amount of 16,450 TCZK (31 December 2020: 9,769 TCZK; 31 December 2019: 4,126 TCZK) of internally developed software in course of construction which is not yet amortised

Shown below is a breakdown of goodwill from individual companies:

	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
COMA s.r.o.	156,983	156,983
Internet pro každého s.r.o. (IPK)	19,126	19,126
3K CZ, s.r.o.	6,852	6,852
CATR spol. s r.o.	104	104
OvFree.NET s.r.o.	39	39
KUMI – ELECTRONIC, spol. s r.o.	665	-
Total	183,769	183,104

There was no impairment recognised concerning intangible assets in 2021 and 2020.

160.080

31 December 2021 31 December 2020 1,675 10,025

146,160

Acquired licences include licenses f	for use of radio frequencies	s and licences for use of IPTV	. Their carrying values are stated below.

			,
Total	l	147,835	170,105

The remaining useful life of frequency band license and IPTV license as at 31 December 2021 is 11.5 years and 1 year, respectively.

Significant accounting policies that apply to impairment of goodwill

We perform an annual goodwill impairment review. Goodwill recognised in a business combination does not generate cash flows independently of other assets or groups of assets. As a result, the recoverable amount, being the value in use, is determined at a cash generating unit (CGU) level. These CGUs represent the smallest identifiable groups of assets that generate cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other groups of assets.

We allocate goodwill to each of the cash Generating Units (CGUs) that we expect to benefit from the business combination. Each CGU to which goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the Company at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. The value in use of each CGU is determined using cash flow projections derived from financial plans of the management covering a five-year period. They reflect management's expectations of revenue, EBITDA growth, capital expenditure, working capital and operating cash flows, based on past experience and future expectations of business performance. Cash flows beyond the fifth year have been extrapolated using perpetuity growth rates.

Critical accounting estimates and key judgements made in reviewing goodwill for impairment

Determining our CGUs

IPTV license

Frequency band use license

The determination of our CGUs is judgemental. The identification of CGUs involves an assessment of whether the asset or group of assets generates largely independent cash inflows. This involves consideration of how our core assets are operated and whether these generate independent revenue streams. Given the management of entity's operations the entire company is deemed to be a single CGU.

Estimating value in use

Our value in use calculations require estimates in relation to uncertain items, including management's expectations of future revenue growth, operating costs, profit margins, operating cash flows, and the discount rate for the CGU. Future cash flows used in the value in use calculations are based on our latest management-approved five-year financial plans. Expectations about future growth reflect the expectations of growth in the markets to which the CGU relates. The future cash flows are discounted using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money.

We tested our goodwill for impairment which did not result in any impairment losses of goodwill in 2021 and 2020. The key assumptions used in performing the annual impairment assessment are disclosed below.

Estimated growth rate - basis for determination of the value assigned to the estimated growth rate is the forecast of the market and regulatory environment, where the Company conducts its principal business. The Company uses growth rate 2 % (2020: 2 %).

Discount rate - discount rate reflects the management's estimate of the risk specific to the cash generating unit. Weighted average of cost of capital (WACC) is used as the discount rate which stood at 9.41 % for 2021 (2020: 9.17 %). It is estimated using the capital asset pricing model (CAPM) and publicly available data from capital markets.

11. LEASES

Significant accounting policies that apply to leases

At inception of a contract, we determine whether the contract is, or contains a lease. A lease exists if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, for a period of time, in exchange for consideration. In making this assessment, we consider whether:

- The contract involves the use of an identified asset, either explicitly or implicitly. The asset must be physically distinct or represent substantially all the capacity of a physically distinct asset. Assets that a supplier has a substantive right to substitute are not considered distinct.
- The lessee has the right to obtain substantially all the economic benefits from the use of the asset throughout the period of use; and
- The lessee has the right to direct the use of the asset, in other words, has the decision-making rights that are most relevant to changing how and for what purpose the asset is used.

Where practicable, and by class of underlying asset, we have elected to account for leases containing a lease component and one or more non-lease components as a single lease component. Where this election has been taken, it has been applied to the entire asset.

Lessee accounting

We recognise a lease liability and right-of-use asset at the commencement of a lease. Lease liabilities are initially measured at the present value of lease payments that are due over the lease term, discounted using the Company's incremental borrowing rate. This is the rate that we would have to pay for a loan of a similar term, and with similar security, to obtain an asset of similar value.

Lease liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured if there is a change in future lease payments or the amount we expect to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if we change our assessment of whether we will exercise a purchase, renewal or termination option.

Right-of-use assets are initially measured at the initial amount of the corresponding lease liabilities, adjusted for any prepaid lease payments, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of any decommissioning costs that have been recognised as provisions, less any lease incentives received. They are subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the asset or the end of the lease term. Right-of-use assets are – tested for impairment following the policy set out in note 10 and are adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

We have elected not to recognise lease liabilities and right-of-use assets for short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less, and leases of low-value assets with a purchase price under 100 TCZK. We recognise lease payments associated with these items as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Any variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate, such as usage-based payments, are recognised as an expense in the period to which the variability relates.

Key judgements made in accounting for leases

Determining the lease term

A significant part of the Company's lease contracts relates to the mobile networks (mainly rooftop tower sites). Many of these leases represent rolling (or 'evergreen') leases that continue until terminated. Factors considered in assessing the lease term are technology development and potential changes in business models. Based on an assessment of these factors, the lease term for the Company's leases relating to sites will normally be 7 years.

We assessed the impact of Covid-19 on the lease term, and it is not considered to have any material impact on our assessment of reasonable certainty.

Right-of-use assets

Our right-of-use assets predominantly consist of leased property (our office premises and client centres), data retention hardware, optical fibre network and data centre racks (telco infrastructure) and rooftop sites.

		Data	Telco	Rooftop	
	Premises	retention	infrastructure	sites	Total
As at 1 January 2020	63,354	19,529	54,470	52,012	189,365
Additions	13,711	-	755	5,488	19,953
Depreciation for the year	(10,081)	(10,154)	(6,388)	(10,223)	(36,846)
Other movements	(8,288)	-	-	(837)	(9,125)
As at 31 December 2020	58,696	9,375	48,837	46,440	163,347
Additions	2,373	-	9,551	18,891	30,814
Depreciation for the year	(10,665)	(6,618)	(7,078)	(11,418)	(35,779)
Other movements*	143	-	(4,782)	3,291	(1,348)
As at 31 December 2021	50,547	2,757	46,527	57,203	157,034

* Other movements relate to terminated leases, upward or downward remeasurements of right-of-use assets arising from changes in lease payments or lease term.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities recognised as at 31 December 2021 total 159,937 TCZK. A total of 33,395 TCZK of this balance is classified as current, with the remaining 126,542 TCZK classified as non-current.

Our lease contracts did not include any residual value guarantee arrangements nor options regarding early termination or renewal.

Note 18 presents a maturity analysis of the payments due over the remaining lease term for these liabilities.

The following amounts relating to the Company's obligations under lease arrangements were recognised in the income statement in year ending 31 December 2021:

- Interest expense of 3,868 TCZK (2020: 4,091 TCZK)
- Expenses relating to short-term and low-value leases amounted to 6,179 TCZK (2020: 4,468 TCZK).

The total cash outflow for leases in the year was 34,746 TCZK (2020: 35,498 TCZK).

We used the following discount rates for lease liabilities:

period	range
As at 31 December 2019	2.28 % – 2.44 %
As at 31 December 2020	2.41 % – 2.57 %
As at 31 December 2021	2.58 % – 3.84 %





12. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Significant accounting policies that apply to trade and other receivables

We initially recognise trade and other receivables at fair value, which is usually the original invoiced amount.

We provide services to consumer and business customers, mainly on credit terms. We know that certain debts due to us will not be paid through the default of a small number of our customers. Because of this, we recognise an allowance for doubtful debts on initial recognition of receivables, which is deducted from the gross carrying amount of the receivable. The allowance is calculated by reference to credit losses expected to be incurred over the lifetime of the receivable. In estimating a loss allowance, we consider historical experience and informed credit assessment. We consider reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort.

Once recognised, trade receivables are continuously monitored and updated. Allowances are based on our historical loss experiences for the relevant aged category as well as forward-looking information and general economic conditions.

Contingent assets such as any insurance recoveries have not been recognised in the financial statements as these are only recognised within trade and other receivables when their receipt is virtually certain.

Information about the Company's exposure to credit and market risks is included in note 18.

	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Current		
Trade receivables	11,803	10,262
Advances paid	3,737	4,295
Other receivables	125	1,212
Accruals	2,644	4,413
Total	18,309	20,182

Trade and other receivables are due as follows:

		Past due					
	Not past	0-1	1-3	3-6	6-12	Over 12	
	due	month	months	months	months	months	Total
31 December 2021	9,189	1,424	763	552	-	-	11,928
31 December 2020	8,289	1,910	579	696	-	-	11,474
31 December 2019	11,790	2,325	711	858	-	-	15,684

For the trade and other receivables that are not impaired or past due, there are no indicators at the date of the reporting that the debtors will not be able to meet their payment obligations.

Trade and other receivables are stated net of allowance for doubtful debts of 19,177 TCZK as shown in the table below.

	Total
31 December 2019	17,776
Additions	2,859
Write-off of receivables	(2,080)
31 December 2020	18,555
Additions	2,172
Write-off of receivables	(1,550)
31 December 2021	19,177

13. INVENTORIES

Significant accounting policies that apply to inventories

Our inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimate of the selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the costs of completion and selling expenses. Costs of inventories include the purchase price and related costs of acquisition (transport, customs duties and insurance). The cost is determined by either the first in first out (FIFO) or specific identification method (for items of inventory that are not ordinarily interchangeable).

The table below shows amounts of inventory including their allowance to arrive at their net realisable value.

	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Telecommunication material	102,369	58,251
Merchandise		386
Allowance for inventories	(5,016)	(3,597)
Total	97,353	55,040

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the period totalled 37,859 TCZK (2020: 43,493 TCZK).

14. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Significant accounting policies that apply to trade and other payables

We initially recognise trade and other payables at fair value, which is usually the original invoiced amount. We subsequently carry them at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Information about the Company's exposure to currency and liquidity risks is included in note 18.

	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Current		
Trade payables	61,322	58,990
Employee wages and benefits	9,941	8,772
Other tax and social security	9,104	8,156
Estimated payables	9,742	12,788
Accruals	1,026	2,628
Advances received	27	67
Other payables	2,882	1,126
Non-current		
Estimated payables	4,342	5,343
Advances received	558	558
Other payables	-	-
Total	98,944	98,428

Estimated payables are mainly represented by unbilled utilities and services related to optical fibre projects.

The line item "Other liabilities" in the statement of financial position represents a dividend payable to shareholders totalling 8,000 TCZK (2020: 10,000 TCZK).

15. PROVISIONS

Significant accounting policies that apply to provisions

We recognise provisions when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated. Where these criteria are not met, we disclose a contingent liability if the Company has a possible obligation, or has a present obligation with an outflow that is not probable or which cannot be reliably estimated. Contingent liabilities are disclosed in note 16. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

Below is a breakdown of the main types of provisions recognised. They relate to costs of dismantling and removing fixed assets and restoring sites and dispute with a supplier of TV content.

	Property	Other	Total
As at 31 December 2019	1,729	2,754	4,483
Additions	-	-	-
Unwind of discount	35	25	60
Utilised or released	-	(2,779)	(2,779)
As at 31 December 2020	1,764	-	1,764
Additions	-	-	
Unwind of discount	35	-	35
Utilised or released	-	-	
As at 31 December 2021	1,799		1,799

Stated below is a summary of non-current provisions and current provisions, which are expected to be utilised within the next twelve months from the balance sheet date.

	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Current	-	-
Non-current	1,799	1,764
Total	1,799	1,764

16. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, LITIGATIONS AND COMMITMENTS

We provide bank guarantee totalling 984 TCZK in respect of our leased premises.

Other than the above mentioned, there were no contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2021 and no significant legal disputes concerning the Company as of finalization of these financial statements.

Commitments contracted but not yet included in the financial statements as at 31 December 2021 amounted to 3,238 TCZK (2020: 302 TCZK). Majority of contracted amounts relates to the construction of optical fibre infrastructure.

17. LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Significant accounting policies that apply to loans and borrowings

We initially recognise loans and other borrowings at the fair value of amounts received net of transaction costs. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

A reconciliation of our main categories of financial debt is shown in the table below.

	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Bank loans:	489,859	353,346
Current	94,808	53,948
Non-current	395,051	299,398
Karakay Invest loan:	9,569	9,629
Current	9,569	-
Non-current	-	9,629
Total	499,428	362,975

Current	104,377	53,948
Non-current	395,051	309,027
Total	499,428	362,975

Further details regarding loan received from Karakay Invest are disclosed in note 22. A detail of our bank loan arrangements is disclosed below:

Financing bank	Balance 31 December 2021	Currency	Interest rate	Maturity
1) Komerční banka	64,720	CZK	1.39 % p.a.	1 January 2024
2) UniCreditBank	28,000	CZK	1.91 % p.a.	1 June 2024
3) Česká spořitelna	35,715	CZK	2.16 % p.a.	1 December 2026
4) UniCreditBank	21,424	CZK	2.20 % p.a.	1 December 2026
5a) UniCreditBank	100,000	CZK	2.16 % p.a.	1 September 2029
5b) UniCreditBank	190,000	CZK	2.66 % p.a.	1 September 2029
5c) UniCreditBank	50,000	CZK	2.77 % p.a.	1 September 2029
Total	489,859			

ad 1) The loan is secured by a bank guarantee from the European Investment Fund and a blank bill of exchange

ad 2) The loan is secured by a blank bill of exchange

ad 3) The loan is secured by a guarantee from international development banks

ad 4) The loan is secured by a blank bill of exchange and a lien in favour of the bank - optical fibre network

ad 5) The loan is secured by a lien in favour of the bank - optical fibre network, trademark, receivables from a current bank account and a blank bill of exchange

	Balance			
Financing bank	31 December 2020	Currency	Interest rate	Maturity
1) Komerční banka	96,040	CZK	1.39 % p.a.	1 January 2024
2) UniCredit Bank	39,200	CZK	1.91 % p.a.	1 June 2024
 Česká spořitelna 	42,857	CZK	2.16 % p.a.	1 December 2026
4) UniCredit Bank	25,712	CZK	2.20 % p.a.	1 December 2026
5a) UniCredit Bank	100,000	CZK	2.16 % p.a.	1 September 2029
5b) UniCredit Bank	49,537	CZK	2.50 % p.a.	1 September 2029
Total	353,346			

ad 1) The loan is secured by a bank guarantee from the European Investment Fund and a blank bill of exchange

ad 2) The loan is secured by a blank bill of exchange

ad 3) The loan is secured by a guarantee from international development banks

ad 4) The loan is secured by a blank bill of exchange and a lien in favour of the bank - optical fibre network

- -

ad 5) The loan is secured by a lien in favour of the bank - optical fibre network, trademark, receivables from a current bank account and a blank bill of exchange.

18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company is exposed to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including the effects of changes in market prices, exchange rates and interest rates), liquidity risk and credit risk. The Company's overall risk management strategy focuses on the minimisation of potential adverse effects on its financial performance. To hedge market exposures, the Company uses only non-derivative instruments (such as deposit instruments).

The management of financial risk is under the responsibility of the Board. There were no changes in the financial risk management strategy between 2020 and 2021.

The Company does not conduct any speculative trading activities.

Classification of financial instruments

The Company does not recognise any financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss or at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Market risk

a) Currency risk

The Company's revenues are derived solely from operations with the Czech crown, the Company's functional currency. As such there is no currency risk arising from these operations.

On the cost side the most significant debt currencies are Euros and US dollars. However, the amount of purchases in these foreign currencies is limited and the Company's exposure to currency risk is minimal. Hence, the Company does not enter into any currency forward contracts or similar hedge arrangements to limit its exposure to foreign exchange currency volatility.

The following table reflects quantitative data about the Company's currency structure of financial assets and liabilities.

	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Cash and cash equivalents:		
CZK	82,794	47,396
EUR	1,121	306
USD	2,815	6,138
Trade and other receivables:*		
CZK	33,966	28,344
EUR	-	-
USD	-	-
Total financial assets	120,696	82,184

* excluding advances paid, accruals and incremental contract costs

	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Loans and borrowings:		
CZK	489,859	353,346
EUR	-	-
USD	-	-
Trade and other payables:**		
CZK	73,079	77,558
EUR	930	296
USD	4,279	393
Total financial liabilities	568,147	431,593

** excluding advances received, accruals, employee and other tax and social security liabilities

Sensitivity analysis

The following table demonstrates the impact of the foreign currency stress test on equity before taxes. It represents the immediate loss caused by a 5 % change in the foreign exchange rate in an unfavourable direction (depreciation of the Czech crown).

FX stress test	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Trade and other payables	(260)	(34)
Cash and cash equivalents	197	322
Total	(64)	288

b) Interest rate risk

The Company is exposed to fluctuations in interest rates through funding and liquidity management activities (Note 17). The risk is managed by consistent monitoring of market conditions. The Company does not enter into any interest rate derivative contracts.



The table below illustrates the interest rate profile of our bank loans.

	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Fixed interest rate	489,859	353,346
Floating interest rate	-	
Total	489,859	353,346
Weighted average effective interest rate	2.31 %	1.95 %

Sensitivity analysis

The impact of a 1 % change in interest rates on the Company's annual net finance expense in the income statement would not have been material in 2020 and 2021.

Liquidity risk

We maintain liquidity by entering into short and long-term financial instruments to support operational and other funding requirements, determined using short and long-term cash forecasts. These forecasts are supplemented by a financial headroom analysis which is used to assess funding adequacy for at least a 12-month period. On at least an annual basis the Board reviews the long-term funding requirements of the Company and on an ongoing basis considers any related matters. We manage refinancing risk by limiting the amount of borrowing that matures within any specified period and having appropriate strategies in place to manage refinancing needs as they arise. The maturity profile of our loans and borrowings as at 31 December 2021 is disclosed in note 17. We hold cash and cash equivalents and current investments to manage short-term liquidity requirements.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company's financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments. The amounts also include projections of future interests.

As at 31 December 2021	Loans and borrowings	Trade and other payables	Lease liabilities	Total
Due within one year	102,695	73,946	35,601	212,242
Between one and five years	295,547	4,900	105,017	405,464
After five years	130,281		31,127	161,408
Total	528,523	78,846	171,745	779,114

	Loans	Trade and	Lease	
As at 31 December 2020	and borrowings	other payables	liabilities	Total
Due within one year	56,926	72,904	35,475	165,305
Between one and five years	214,863	5,901	108,519	329,283
After five years	104,875	-	34,054	138,929
Total	376,664	78,805	178,048	633,517

Credit risk

Trade receivables, other receivables and contract assets

Due to a high number of customers in the Company's customer base, the concentration of credit risk is limited. Virtually all trade receivables are concentrated within the Czech Republic. Although the Company does not currently foresee higher credit risk associated with these receivables, the collectability is significantly impacted by the financial stability of the national economy.

It is the Company's policy that all customers wishing to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis to minimise the Company's exposure to bad debts. The maximum possible credit risk arising from receivables and other financial assets equals the carrying amount of those financial instruments.

We manage credit risk by the following main procedures:

- Credit check of potential new customers
- Monitoring of trade receivables
- Debt collection

The Company calculates the loss allowance for trade and other receivables and other contract assets as the expected lifetime credit losses. The allowance is calculated by considering the historic evidence of the level of bad debt experienced for customer types and the aging of the receivable balance.

No further credit risk provision was deemed to be required in excess of the normal provision for bad and doubtful receivables as at 31 December 2021. See note 12 for information on receivables in terms of age distribution and provision for bad debt.

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 the Company held no trade receivables or contract assets for which no loss allowance would be created due to collateral received.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash deposits are only made with approved counterparties and in accordance with approved credit limits per counterparty. The limits are set to minimise the concentration of risks and therefore mitigate financial loss through a counterparty's potential payment default. Bank receivables are held by institutions with satisfactory ratings in 2021 and 2020. The credit risk is therefore deemed low by the Company. The impairment analysis was conducted in line with the Company's policy. Given the immateriality of the loss allowance the Company decided not to recognise it.

Fair values

The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation technique:

Level 1 - uses quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 – uses inputs for the asset or liability other than quoted prices that are observable either directly or indirectly. Level 3 – uses inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data, such as internal models or other valuation

methods.

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 the Company did not measure any financial instruments at fair value because the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value is a reasonable approximation of its fair value. The Company's financial assets and liabilities are composed mainly of current trade receivables and payables, cash and cash equivalents and borrowings with variable interest rates.

19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES / ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Significant accounting policies that apply to investments in associates

We account for investment in associates using the equity method. Under the equity method, on initial recognition the investment in an associate is recognised at cost which comprises the investment's purchase price and any directly attributable expenditure necessary to acquire it. The carrying amount is then increased or decreased to recognise our share of the subsequent profit or loss of the investee and we include that share of the investee's profit or loss in our profit or loss. Distributions received from an investee reduce the carrying amount of the investment.

The Company holds a 20 % interest in company 4NET.TV solutions a.s., a joint-stock company seated in the Czech Republic. The Company has determined that it has a significant influence as it has a power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of 4NET.TV solutions a.s. without the power to control or jointly control those policies. 4NET.TV solutions a.s. provides the Company with a licence to supply IPTV services to its household and enterprise customers.

In July 2021, the board of the Company committed to a plan to sell its 20 % interest in 4NET.TV solutions a.s. Accordingly, the interest is presented as an "Asset held for sale" in the statement of financial position.

The tables below analyse the carrying amount and share of profit and OCI of our associate as well as its summarised financial information.

	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Carrying amount	6,615	6,044
Share of:		
- Profit from continuing operations	615	571
- OCI	-	-
Held for sale adjustment	(1,330)	-
Total	5,900	6,615

The "Held for sale adjustment" of 1,330 TCZK is recognised as expense in the "Expenses" caption in the statement of comprehensive income.

	Associate 20 %	Associate 20 %
4NET.TV solutions a.s.	2021	2020
Summarised statement of financial position		
Non-current assets	26,589	24,097
Current assets	22,815	14,848
Non-current liabilities	-	-
Current liabilities	4,462	1,650
Net assets	44,942	37,295
Summarised statement of comprehensive income		
Revenue	47,812	30,803
Expenses	(39,748)	(27,172)
Income tax	(1,730)	(799)
Profit / loss for the year	6,145	2,857
Other comprehensive income	-	-
Total comprehensive income	6,145	2,857
The Company's share of total comprehensive income*	615	571
Dividends received by the Company	-	-

* The share on profit immediately prior the time of classification of 4NET.TV solutions a.s. as held for sale



20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Significant accounting policies that apply to cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and current balances with banks and similar institutions, which are readily convertible to cash, are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value and have an original maturity of three months or less. All are held at amortised cost on the balance sheet, equating to fair value. For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents are as defined above.

	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Bank balances	85,841	52,303
Cash deposits	889	1,537
Total	86,730	53,840

21. EQUITY

Capital management policy

The objective of our capital management policy is maintaining a strong capital base while investing in the business. To meet this objective, we may issue or repay debt or adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders. We manage the capital structure and make adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and business opportunities. The Board regularly reviews the capital structure. No changes were made to these objectives and processes during 2020 and 2021. The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

Our capital structure consists of net debt and shareholders' equity. The Company monitors capital using a ratio of net debt to equity. Net debt is calculated as total liabilities (as shown in the statement of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents. The Company's policy is to keep the ratio below 1.50.

	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Total liabilities	848,450	715,992
Less: cash and cash equivalents	(86,730)	(53,840)
Net debt	761,720	662,152
Total equity	940,952	862,183
Net debt to equity ratio	0.81	0.77

The following table summarizes our Equity structure:

	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Share capital	55,000	55,000
Retained earnings	807,183	711,895
Net income for the year	78,769	95,288
Total	940,952	862,183



A reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the period is shown below:

	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Nominal value per ordinary share (in CZK)	10	10
Number of shares - fully paid	5,500,000	5,500,000
Ordinary shares (in TCZK)	55,000	55,000

The Company does not hold any of its own shares.

22. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Mr. Martin Šigut is the ultimate controlling party.

The following transactions were carried out with related parties:

Parent company Karakay Invest N.V. (public limited liability company)

The parent company provides a long-term loan to the Company. The outstanding amounts are disclosed in note 17. The amount of interest totalled 362 TCZK in 2021 (2020: 364 TCZK).

Associate 4NET.TV solutions a.s. (joint-stock company)

The associate provides a complex solution in respect of IPTV services. The amount of purchases from 4NET.TV solutions a.s. in 2021 amounted to 11,141 TCZK (2020: 11,043 TCZK). The Company recorded a payable of 453 TCZK as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: 1,003 TCZK).

Other related parties

Other related parties include companies KM Real s.r.o., which rents out office premises in Ostrava, PODA Slovakia s.r.o., a sister company which holds PODA trademarks in Slovakia, and ultimate owner Mr. Martin Šigut. The related transactions and balances are shown below:

	31 December 2021	31 December 2020
Receivables and other assets	150	1,008
Trade and other payables	49	333
Total	199	1,341

Year ended	2021	2020
Sales of goods and services	-	-
Purchases of goods and services	3,304	3,295
Total	3,304	3,295

Transactions with key management personnel of the entity

The transactions with key management personnel constitute employee benefit costs and remuneration for the execution of the service of the Board, including related social security and health insurance costs. The key management personnel are represented by the Board of directors and executive management of the Company. The total of such costs for the year ended 31 December 2021 amounted to 14,473 TCZK (31 December 2020: 14,000 TCZK). The compensation of key management personnel is also disclosed in note 6.

All transactions of the Company with its related parties were concluded under standard commercial terms and conditions at arm's length.

23. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In June 2022, the Company sold its stake in former associate 4NET.TV solutions a.s.

There were no other events which occurred after the balance sheet date which would have a material impact on the financial statements as at 31 December 2021.

Martin G

Martin Šigut, CEO

Tail T.El

Pavel Přeček, CFO



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS

We're improving the quality of services

B2B customers **2,869**

Rödl & Partner

Independent Auditor's Report

to the shareholders of PODA a.s. 28. října 1168/102, Moravská Ostrava, 702 00 Ostrava Reg.No.: 258 16 179

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of PODA a.s. (hereinafter also "the Company"), prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the period from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes ("the financial statements"). The basic disclosures about the Company are presented in Note 1 of the notes to the financial statements.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of PODA a.s. as at 31 December 2021, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the period from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Act on Auditors and Auditing Standards of the Chamber of Auditors of the Czech Republic, which are International Standards on Auditing (ISAs), as amended by the related application clauses. Our responsibilities under this law and regulation are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Act on Auditors and the Code of Ethics adopted by the Chamber of Auditors of the Czech Republic and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the Financial Statements

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and for such internal control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Rödl & Partner

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with the above law or regulation, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors.
- Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.
- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Prague, on 21st of October, 2022

Rödl & Partner Audit, s.r.o.

Platnéřská 2, 110 00 Praha 1 Licence Number 354 represented by the managing director

Andreas Höfinghoff



Ing. Ivan Brož, statutory auditor, license number 2077

Network stability is our priority

homes passed 234,824

CONTACTS

CUSTOMER SERVICE CONTACT	Tel.: +420 730 430 430 E-mail: info@poda.cz www. poda.cz
TECHNICAL SUPPORT CONTACT	podpora@poda.cz
OFFICESS	28. října 1168/102, 702 00 Ostrava – Moravská Ostrava City Tower building, Hvězdova 1716/2 b, 140 78 Praha 4 Gajdošova 4392/7, 615 00 Brno-Židenice Boženy Němcové 817/II, 379 01 Třeboň Masarykova 8, 572 01 Polička
CLIENT CENTERS	Shopping arcade Černá růže, Na Příkopě 853/112, 110 00 Praha 28. října 1168/102, 702 00 Ostrava Gajdošova 4392/7, 615 00 Brno Hlavní třída 171/52, 736 01 Havířov Tř. Osvobození 1720/11, 735 06 Karviná Masarykova třída 1293, 735 14 Orlová Studentská 182, 735 81 Bohumín Třebízského 1204, 379 01 Třeboň
PODA BOXES	Shopping center Korso Karviná, Nádražní 1939/4a, 733 01 Karviná Penny market area, Tyršova, 572 01 Polička

MPODA

